

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.

Biochimie 184 (2021) 95-103

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimie

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biochi

SARS-CoV-2 journey to the brain with a focus on potential role of docosahexaenoic acid bioactive lipid mediators

Mayssa Hachem

Khalifa University, Department of Chemistry, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 January 2021 Received in revised form 12 February 2021 Accepted 19 February 2021 Available online 25 February 2021

Keywords: Coronavirus COVID-19 SARS-CoV-2 Blood-brain-barrier Docosahexaenoic acid Bioactive lipid mediator

ABSTRACT

Coronavirus Disease 2019 or COVID-19 have infected till day 82,579,768 confirmed cases including 1,818,849 deaths, reported by World Health Organization WHO. COVID-19, originated by Severe Acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), contributes to respiratory distress in addition to neurological symptoms in some patients. In the current review, we focused on the neurological complications associated with COVID-19. We discussed different pathways followed by RNA-virus, especially Flaviviridae family in the brain and passage through the Blood-Brain-Barrier BBB. Then, we explored SARS-CoV-2 mechanisms responsible of neuroinvasion and BBB disruption as well as the immunopathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in the central nervous system CNS. Since SARS-CoV-2 is an enveloped virus, enclosed in a lipid bilayer and that lipids are essential cell components playing numerous biological roles in viral infection and replication, we investigated the lipid metabolism remodeling upon coronavirus replication. We also highlighted the anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective potential of an omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid, docosahexaenoic acid DHA, as well as several bioactive lipid mediators. Altogether, our data allow better understanding of SARS-CoV-2 neuroinvasion and could assist in drug targeting to decline the burden of short-term and long-term neurological manifestations of SARS-CoV-2. © 2021 Elsevier B.V. and Société Française de Biochimie et Biologie Moléculaire (SFBBM). All rights

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 95
2.	Structure of SARS-CoV-2	. 96
3.	Effect of RNA viruses, flaviviridae, on Blood-Brain-Barrier integrity	. 97
4.	Pathways exploited by SARS- COV 2 for neuroinvasion and BBB disruption	. 97
5.	Immunopathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in CNS	. 98
6.	Lipid metabolism remodeling upon coronavirus replication	. 98
7.	Anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective potential of docosahexaenoic acid as well as bioactive lipid mediators	. 99
8.	Effect of SARS-CoV-2 on DHA passage across BBB	101
9.	Conclusion	101
	Author contributions	101
	Funding	102
	Declaration of competing interest	. 102
	Acknowledgments	. 102
	References	. 102

1. Introduction

Coronaviruses (CoVs) are positive-single-stranded ribonucleic

E-mail address: mayssa.hachem@ku.ac.ae.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2021.02.012

0300-9084/© 2021 Elsevier B.V. and Société Française de Biochimie et Biologie Moléculaire (SFBBM). All rights reserved.







reserved.

acid (RNA) viruses, 26-32 kilobases, with a diameter of around 60–140 nm, belonging to Coronaviridae family [1]. Four CoVs genera are defined. These genera consist of α -coronaviruses, β coronaviruses, γ -coronaviruses, and δ -coronaviruses [2]. Seven CoVs are identified to cause human disease. Among them, HCoV229E, NL63, OC43, and HKU1 are recognized as non-severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)-like CoVs, causing moderate diseases. SARS-CoV-1. MERS. and SARS-CoV-2 are extremely infective and can lead to death [3]. SARS-CoV-2 causing Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) became a pandemic, since December 2019, infecting millions of people until day [4]. In December 2020, a new CoVs variant was identified in UK and called VUI-202012/01 (Variant Under Investigation). VUI-202012/01 is characterized by a set of 17 mutations [5]. Among these mutations, N501Y mutation in the spike protein S used by the virus to bind to the human Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme ACE2 receptor. Variations in spike protein might lead to more virulent and rapid viral infections among population.

COVID-19 follows three stages [6]. The Stage I (mild) initial infection happens at the time of inoculation and consists of an incubation period linked to mild symptoms including fever, dry cough, etc. The virus replicates in the host, predominantly in the respiratory system. In the stage II (moderate)-pulmonary without or with hypoxia, the virus multiplies and the inflammation in the lung are most common with some markers of systemic inflammation. A viral pneumonia, cough, fever, and sometimes hypoxia are observed in patients. Most patients need to be hospitalized at this stage. Following, the stage III (severe)-systemic hyperinflammation is the most severe stage of the disease in a minority of COVID-19 patients. At this stage, the patients have extrapulmonary systemic hyperinflammation syndrome and markers of systemic inflammation are elevated. Some inflammatory cytokines and biomarkers such as IL-2, IL-6, IL-7, C-reactive protein are considerably high in patients with severe disease [6].

Even though the virus principally is recognized as an acute respiratory infection, current data recommends that 36% of infected people have neurological symptoms [7].

To better understand the relationship between SARS-CoV-2 and neurological complications in patient, we studied different pathways followed by RNA viruses to counteract the Blood Brain Barrier BBB. Then, we focused on potential mechanisms adapted by SARS-CoV-2 for neuroinvasion as well as BBB disruption. Also, we discussed the immunopathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in CNS which is crucial for potential anti-viral drug targeting. Since lipid remodeling in viral infected host cells was observed in several viral infection, we investigated the lipid metabolism remodeling upon CoVs replication with a focus on anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effect of docosahexaenoic acid DHA as well as bioactive lipid mediators against SARS-CoV-2 infection. Finally, we discussed the probable effect of SARS-CoV-2 on DHA passage across BBB by altering some proteins transporter expression.

2. Structure of SARS-CoV-2

To better understand the binding of SARS-CoV-2 to the cell host, we explored the virus 'structure in this section (see Fig. 1). In fact, SARS- CoV-2 gene fragments express structural and non-structural protein. S, N, E and M genes code for structural proteins whereas non-structural proteins including proteases, NSP13 helicase, NSP12 polymerase are encoded by open reading frames (Orfs) [8]. CoVs crown-like shape is due to S proteins, a transmembrane glycoprotein, crucial for binding to ACE2 host receptor [9]. ACE2 is made of 805 amino acids with two catalytic domains and encoding gene located on X chromosome, Xp22.2 [10]. ACE2 is expressed in several organs including brain, heart, lung, kidney and liver [11]. Each S



Fig. 1. SARS-CoV-2 structure showing structural proteins Spike S, Membrane glycoprotein M, Envelope E, Nucleocapsid N as well as binding to ACE2 receptors in host cell through Spike S protein.

glycoprotein includes two subunits named S1 and S2. S1 is responsible for host cell binding while S2 enables the membrane combination involving the virus and host cells [8,12]. The activation of S protein in the viral envelope is induced by the transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2), a membrane-bound enzyme found near the ACE2 receptor. In human tissue, TMPRSS2 is mainly expressed in the small intestine, heart, lung, liver. In the brain, TMPRSS2 is highly expressed in the fetal brain whereas its expression level in the adult brain is low [13]. Direct proteolytic cleavage of viral S protein by TMPRSS2 on the surface of host cells induces the fusion of the plasma and viral membranes. Thus, leading to the release of the viral single stranded-RNA into the host 'cytoplasm.

Another structural protein in SARS-CoV-2 is Nucleocapsid N protein detected at initial phases of the viral infection playing an important role in binding to viral RNA to form a nucleus and virus proliferation [14]. Moreover, the structural CoVs envelope protein or E protein forms small hydrophobic proteins or viroporins essential for viral assembly, viral release and contributing in pathogenic mechanisms [15]. In addition, CoVs membrane protein M is the main glycoprotein in viral particle and participate in the proliferation of the virus through decreasing cyclooxygenase COX-2 levels [16,17]. Concerning non-structural proteins, SARS-CoV-2 codes for a single papain-like protease PLpro with a significant function in viral replication and inhibition of the immune systems in host cells [18]. Another key proteins in viral replication are NSP13 helicase and NSP12 Polymerase having respectively nucleosidetriphosphatase NTPase, RNA helicase activity and RNA synthesis through intervention in the initiation and elongation phase [19,20]. All mentioned proteins are fundamental in several stages of viral infection, from viral entry to viral replication and development of viral vesicles.

3. Effect of RNA viruses, flaviviridae, on Blood-Brain-Barrier integrity

Several blood-borne acute viruses have revealed neuroinvasive properties in humans. Viruses can penetrate the CNS *via* two different routes: hematogenous dissemination route or neuronal retrograde dissemination [21]. In hematogenous dissemination, the virus expands in the body *via* the bloodstream and reaches the brain by crossing the BBB, while neuronal retrograde viral dissemination happens when a virus infects peripheral neurons then access the CNS through cells transport machinery [21].

To cross the endothelial monolayer of BBB, the virus can follow four different pathways [22]. In the diffusion mechanism or passive-aggressive mechanism, viruses can diffuse through endothelial monolayer with alteration of the endothelium integrity. Another pathway is the infection or energetic path where the monolayer endothelial is infected and viruses are found on the other side. Moreover, transcytosis or commuting way through endocytosis/exocytosis mechanism in the privation of productive infection and Trojan horse pathway was proposed in the literature [22].

These cerebral viral infections, known as viral encephalitis, are due to DNA viruses, retroviruses or RNA viruses [23]. Viral encephalitis can be associated with BBB disruption allowing the virus entrance as well as inflammatory cells into brain parenchyma [24]. Some acute viral infections including murine adenovirus type 1 (MAV-1), human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), West Nile virus (WNV), and lymphocytic choriomeningitis mouse virus (LCMV) infections were identified to produce disruption of BBB or endothelial junctions [24]. Although, these viruses were stated to induce an increase in BBB permeability, the mechanism of BBB damage is yet to be explored.

Since SARS-Cov-2 is a RNA virus belonging to Flaviviridae family, to better understand the way Flaviviridae viruses affect BBB, we explored in this section the effect of some viruses (Zika Virus ZIKV, West Nile virus WNV) on BBB. ZIKV, a single stranded RNA virus of the Flaviviridae family, was tested on in vitro model of human brain-derived endothelial cells hCMEC/D3 and showed that ZIKV can infect hCMEC/D3 cells without BBB disruption and without effect on tight junction protein expression. While no BBB disruption was detected during ZIKV infection, ZIKV particles were found on BBB basal side and infected underlying cells, thus proving that ZIKV can cross BBB by transcytosis [25]. These findings confirm same results showed by Papa et al., 2017 who confirmed that although BBB endothelial integrity was maintained, infectious virus particles were able to pass through the endothelial monolayer by endocytosis/exocytosis-dependent replication pathway or by transcvtosis [26].

Although some researchers confirmed the hypothesis that ZIKV was not able to damage BBB [24,25], others showed a selective disruption of BBB by ZIKV using *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies on three different strains of ZIKV (ZIKV-H; ZIKV-PR; ZIKV-U) [27]. *In vitro*, primary human brain microvascular endothelial cells BMECs were infected by ZIKV and tight junctions 'analysis showed that some were upregulated such as ZO-1 and other junctions were down-regulated (Occludin and Claudin-5). While *in vitro*, BBB permeability was not affected even at high viral load, *in vivo* studies showed a significant disruption of BBB integrity in C57 BL/J mice infected with ZIKV-H.

Another Flaviviridae, West Nile virus WNV was considered for better understanding of RNA viruses neuroinvasion and BBB disruption with controversial results between several studies [28–30]. WNV-infected endothelial cells HUVECs resulted in loss of tight junctions claudin-1 and JAM-1 proteins but not occludin or ZO-1 [28]. Subsequently, lysosomal proteins degradation dependent on the GTPase dynamin and microtubule-based transport were observed. These results proposed that WNV used several pathways to cross BBB. Among these, endocytosis and degradation of trans-membrane proteins of the tight junction, degradation of basal membranes through production of matrix metalloproteases, stimulation of cells (immune, endothelial) to secrete proinflammatory cytokines that disrupt tight junctions. In addition, in vitro, WNV (NY99) strain was able to cross the endothelial barrier formed of primary infected HBMEC without disrupting its integrity [28]. During WNV replication, adhesion molecules VCAM1 and Eselectin were upregulated proposing that endothelial cells 'infection could help the migration of leukocytes, which can be linked to the viral penetration into the brain via 'Trojan Horse Mechanism' known also as cell-associated virus transport [22]. Type I interferon IFNAR signaling in astrocytes was reported also to be critical for BBB integrity maintenance [30,31]. In vitro, Daniels et al., 2014 showed that adding type I IFN to murine endothelial BMEC infected with WNV maintained BBB integrity without changes in tight junctions and decreased the viral passage through the endothelial layer. To confirm their result that IFNAR signaling in astrocytes improves in vitro BBB integrity in response to WNV, in vivo experiments were conducted on Ifnarfl/fl Gfap-Cre mice. In WNV-infected mice, an increase of BBB permeability, a viral neuroinvasion and an increase in mortality rate were observed with selective depletion of IFNAR in astrocytes.

A full understanding of pathways followed by Flaviviridae virus to disrupt BBB would be helpful in identifying special molecular targets and allow the progress in drugs against flavivirus neurological symptoms. Also, these mechanisms can help in predicting the way the novel Flaviviridae SARS-CoV-2 counteracts with BBB.

4. Pathways exploited by SARS- COV 2 for neuroinvasion and BBB disruption

COVID-19 may generate severe neurologic symptoms including headache, nausea, vomiting and disorders such as strokes, Guillain-Barre syndrome, and encephalopathies [32,33]. Several reports have attempted to characterize and reveal the relationship between SARS-CoV-2 and neurological complications.

The scarcity of clinical data make it difficult to understand why some people have neurological symptoms and others do not. This maybe due to the viral load associated with severe cases although the correlation between SARS-CoV-2 detection, viral load and neuroinfectivity is not fully understood. Further researches are required to explain the infectivity of SARS-CoV-2 in the brain.

Researchers reported that SARS-CoV-2 neuroinvasion happens following three main phases [34]. The viral invasion into the CNS is the first phase. This phase is followed by the neural infection phase where SARS-CoV-2 infects, reproduces and kills neural cells through ACE-2 via Spike1 protein subunit while the S2 subunit of ACE-2 allows viral cell membrane fusion [12,35]. The last phase is the immune-mediated CNS response to fight the virus [36].

Related to the first phase of SARS-CoV-2 neuroinvasion, viral invasion into the CNS happens through neuronal retrograde dissemination or retrograde axonal transport where the virus can invade from the nerve "ending" such as the peripheral nerves, and by the mechanism of active transport within the neurons [37]. This active transport occurs precisely *via* the motor proteins kinesin and dynein, and *via* microtubules, travel in a retrograde approach and reach the CNS [38]. These neurons could be motor, sensory and most often olfactory neurons. Particularly, after an intranasal infection, viruses can infect the olfactory receptor neurons, pass through the neuroepithelium of the olfactory mucosa to arrive to the olfactory bulb, reach the mitral cells and the olfactory nerve then spread to the hippocampus and different brain structures. The

suggestion that SARS-CoV-2 can enter the CNS *via* this olfactory route was recently considered [21].

Another pathway far SARS-CoV-2 neuroinvasion is the vascular or hematogenous route where the virus remains free for a period of time before it infects the endothelial cells of BBB. This period as well as the quantity of the virus are not determined until day.

To better understand SARS-CoV-2 passage through BBB, researchers studied S1 subunit passage through BBB considering that if the viral binding protein passes through BBB, it is expected that these proteins allow also the virus to cross the BBB. To investigate whether S1 protein can cross BBB, Rhea et al., 2020 intravenously injected radio-iodinated S1 (I-S1) in male mice and showed that I–S1 crossed BBB through adsorptive transcytosis [39]. 10 min after intravenous injection, the brain was collected and divided into eleven regions including olfactory bulb, striatum, hypothalamus, hippocampus, thalamus, cerebellum, midbrain, medulla, frontal cortex, parietal cortex, occipital cortex. The analysis showed that I-S1 reached all brain areas without differences among it [39]. Researchers also reported that I-S1 intranasal administration reached the brain with ten times lower level that the intravenous injection. Murine ACE2 was participating specially in I-S1 brain and lung uptake but not other organs (kidney, liver, spleen). Moreover, recent studies proposed that SARS-CoV-2 might bind to various receptors other than ACE2 [40]. The authors compared SARS-CoV-2 Spike proteins to those of SARS-CoV and showed that SARS-CoV-2 S proteins and SARS-CoV are extremely identical, with a sequence identity of 77%. The difference between both viruses is that SARS-CoV-2 S protein is somewhat more positively charged than SARS-CoV S protein, first one containing four more positively charged residues and five less negatively charged residues. Due to these positive charges, SARS-COV-2 maybe linked to negatively charged regions of other molecules. Analysis of the S protein binding to the host ACE2 receptor exhibited a 30% higher binding energy for SARS-CoV-2 than for the SARS-CoV S protein.

Another significant indication that SARS-CoV-2 can enter the CNS would be the recognition of the virus in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). To address this issue, Alexopoulos et al., 2020 investigated the pathophysiologic mechanism of encephalopathy in COVID-19 patients, ICU hospitalized in University Hospital in Athens, and focused on CSF analysis and BBB disruption as well as COVID-19 antibody production in CSF. They detected CSF anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies using ELISA assay. 50% of patients have high CSF antibody and disrupted BBB [33]. Interestingly, CSF was normal and SARS-CoV-2 negative. These observations exclude the direct brain invasion by SARS-CoV-2 and confirm the findings of Al Saeigh et al., 2020 who studied the status of SARS-CoV-2 in CSF of two COVID-19 patients showing neurological problems [41]. Controversially, SARS-CoV-2 RNA was detected in CSF but not in nasopharyngeal swab of a 24 years old man with meningitis/encephalitis associated with SARS-CoV-2 [42].

5. Immunopathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in CNS

In normal healthy conditions, BBB controls the passage of immune cell into CNS and allows only the passage of specific immune cells responsible of maintaining the immune surveillance in CNS. These innate and adaptive immune cells include lymphocytes and macrophages [43]. During viral infections, the microvascular endothelial cells in BBB are activated allowing the entrance of infected immune cells into CNS through Trojan Horse mechanism [44].

The immunopathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 is not well-defined till day although experimental analysis specified that COVID-19 patients had improved inflammatory response to the virus with high levels of cytokines and chemokines, involving TNF- α , IFN- γ ,

interleukin-1 receptor antagonist IL-1RA, IL-2, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10 [45,46]. High amounts of cytokines and chemokines were linked to CNS dysfunctions. An increase of TNF- α was associated with cognitive problems with four-fold increase [47] while IFN- γ induced synaptic degeneration in Alzheimer Disease [48].

This response, known as a cytokine storm 'CS' is generated by the stimulation of numerous white blood cells (B cells, T cells, NK cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, monocytes) and tissue cells (epithelial and endothelial cells) [49]. In the brain, CS can be considered as a crucial factor to cause BBB disruption [34,50]. Monocytes and lymphocytes penetrate into the vessel walls and cause neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration and demyelination [50].

Consequently, SARS-CoV-2 infection can raise the risk of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease AD, Parkinson's disease PD as well as many neurological diseases including stroke, seizure and encephalopathy via diverse immune paths including CS, autoimmune system activation. In fact, studies reported that AD and SARS-CoV-2 were linked together taking into consideration the role of Apolipoprotein E ApoE, cholesterol transport protein apolipoprotein [51]. Researchers showed that adding cholesterol to cells from blood serum using ApoE improves the entry of pseudotyped SARS-CoV-2 and the infectivity of the virion in elderly [48]. ApoE e4e4 (homozygous) genotype linked with a 14-fold raise in risk of AD compared to e3e3 genotype [52]. ApoE e4e4 alleles increases risks of severe COVID-19 infection [53]. Moreover, SARS-CoV-2 contributed to the development of PD through CS release in the CSF thus perturbating the neurotransmitters 'production and aggravating the neurodegeneration process [54]. In addition, neuroimaging studies showed that SARS-CoV-2 patients had ischemic and hemorrhagic strokes with a prevalence of 0.2–1% of patients [55,56]. This can be due to CS with high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL1β, IL-6, and TNF-α, known to increase the risk of ischemic and hemorrhagic strokes [57]. Also, seizure and encephalopathy were observed in SARS-CoV-2 patients as a result of auto-immune-mediated injury due to the abnormal emission of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF-α [58].

Understanding the probable immunologic pathways in CNS of COVID-19 patients is essential to prevent the advance of neurological problems, especially in AD, PD, stroke, seizure and encephalopathy patients.

6. Lipid metabolism remodeling upon coronavirus replication

As previously mentioned, SARS-CoV-2 is an enveloped virus surrounded by a bilayer of lipids (phospholipids, cholesterol) and proteins (E, M, S, N protein). Phospholipids are amphipathic bio-molecules including saturated and unsaturated fatty acids playing crucial biological functions. In case of infection, viruses enter the host cell, replicate within the cell and exit. The membrane phospholipids are vital in the viral life cycle as these lipids are involved in the combination of the host cell and viral membrane, viral replication, endocytosis and exocytosis [59,60]. In light of the importance of lipids in viral life cycle, a vital question is whether targeting lipid metabolism can be used to fight SARS-CoV-2.

Several studied reported an increase in lipid metabolism in cells after viral infection where the virus used host cells' lipid metabolism to propagate [61,62]. It has been revealed that phospholipids membranes are crucial for replication of positive-strand RNA viruses [61]. The vital function of Phosphatidylethanolamines PE in replication of Tomato bushy stunt virus TBSV was highlighted by Xu et al., 2015 who found that TBSV can supplement the sites of viral replication in yeast and plant cells with PE [63]. To characterize the



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of mono and di-hydroxylated-DHA derivatives mechanism: (a)Production of 11-hydroxy-DHA and 14-hydroxy-DHA from 12-LOX activity, 4-hydroxy-DHA and 7-hydroxy-DHA from 5-LOX activity, (b) Production of Protectin D1 PD1 through DHA lipoxygenation by 15-LOX to initially form 17 (S)-HpDoHE and that enzymatic epoxidation of 17 (S) -HpDoHE allows the formation of an epoxy intermediate which results in the synthesis of 10 (R), 17 (S) -dihydroxy-docosa4Z, 7Z, 11E, 13E, 15Z, 19Z-hexaenoic acid or protectin D1 (PD1), (c) Production of Maresin1 through DHA lipoxygenation by 12-LOX followed by epoxidase to produce an epoxy intermediate 13,14-epoxy HDoHE which results in Maresin1 formation.

changes in host lipidome, Yan B et al., 2019 executed ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-quadrupole-time of flight-mass spectrometry UPLC-ESI-Q-TOF-MS-based lipidomics upon Enterovirus A71 EV-A71 and coxsackievirus A16 CV-A16 infections. They showed that 47 lipids in 11 lipid classes were considerably disturbed after EV-A71 and CV-A16 infection. Arachidonic acid AA, docosahexaenoic acid DHA, docosapentaenoic acid DPA, and eicosapentaenoic acid EPA, were constantly upregulated with EV-A71 and CV-A16 infection. When testing the antiviral activity of AA, DHA and EPA, researchers found that supplying cell cultures exogenously with these unsaturated fatty acids significantly inhibited EV-A71 and CV-A16 replication [64]. These results suggest that adding excessive exogenous polyunsaturated fatty acids including AA, DHA, EPA might disrupt the specific lipid pathways modulated during the viral replication. Similarly, inhibitory effects of exogenous PUFA, Linolenic Acid LA and AA, were observed in human coronavirus 229E HCoV-229E replication [64]. Lipidomic analysis revealed that infected cells with HCoV-229E coronavirus have higher level of glycerophospholipids and fatty acids and that LA and AA metabolic axis were perturbated.

All these data highlight the importance of lipid metabolism regulation that could be a druggable target of coronavirus infections.

7. Anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective potential of docosahexaenoic acid as well as bioactive lipid mediators

Docosahexaenoic acid DHA was recognized to disable enveloped

viruses and reduce proliferation of microorganisms [65]. Also, it showed an anti-inflammatory potential and neuroprotective effect against ZIKV infection since SH-SY5Y cells pre-treated with DHA and infected with ZIKV, had lower viral load at different times of infection [66]. In addition to DHA, some bioactive lipid mediators derivative from AA, EPA and DHA (lipoxins, resolvins, protectins and maresins) were recognized to reduce inflammation, increase phagocytosis of macrophages and decline microbial load.

Considering this, it is recommended that these PUFA as well as their metabolites might assist as endogenous anti-viral products and that human can be vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2 in case of PUFA/ metabolites'lack [67].

To better understand the production of DHA bioactive lipid mediators, we discussed in this section different mechanism involved (Fig. 2, Fig. 3). In fact, DHA can be oxygenated by various lipoxygenases LOX [68]. Mono, Di and Tri-hydroxy-metabolites of DHA are known. The main mono-hydroxy metabolites of DHA are 11-hydroxy-DHA and 14-hydroxy-DHA from 12-LOX activity, 4hydroxy-DHA and 7-hydroxy-DHA from 5-LOX activity and 17hydroxy-DHA from 15-LOX activity. These enzymatic reactions require the presence of glutathione peroxidases GPx peroxidase [69,70]. Mono-hydroxy derivatives of DHA have the ability to inhibit platelet aggregation due to exogenous AA, adenosine-5'diphosphate (ADP) or induced by collagen [71]. Recent work showed that DHA undergoes lipoxygenation by 15-LOX to initially form 17 (S) -HpDoHE and that enzymatic epoxidation of 17 (S) -HpDoHE allows the formation of an epoxy intermediate which results in the synthesis of 10 (R), 17 (S) -dihydroxy-docosa4Z, 7Z, 11E, 13E, 15Z, 19Z-hexaenoic acid or protectin D1 (PD1). Protectin



Fig. 3. Schematic representation of Resolvins (RvD1, RvD2, RvD3, RvD4) through DHA lipoxygenation from 15-lipoxygenase followed by epoxidation.

D1 (PD1) was demonstrated firstly in cells activated mononuclear cells and, in the brain, where it is named NPD1. NPD1 was called "protectin" due to its protective and anti-inflammatory effects in tissues [72–74]. PD1/NPD1 notably prevented neuronal apoptosis responsible for neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease [75,76]. It decreased allergic inflammation of the respiratory tract and associated asthma [77]. In strokes, NPD1 increased in the brain, decreased brain damage and inhibited leukocyte infiltration as well as pro-inflammatory genes expression [78]. Moreover, researchers characterized an isomer of PD1, called PDX with conjugated triene geometry E/Z/E for PDX and E/E/Z for PD1. PDX inhibited platelet aggregation via inhibition of COX-1 cyclooxygenase and the action thromboxane A2 (TxA2). This property is due to the particular geometry of the conjugated triene (trans, cis, trans) formed by double lipoxygenation [79]. Also, researchers showed that PDX is an inhibitor of COX-1 as well as COX-2 activated during ignition and that PDX decreased the release of species oxygen reactants produced by human neutrophils in vitro. PDX could be considered an antiinflammatory and anti-aggregating agent. In addition to antiinflammatory and anti-aggregating effects, PDX decreased virus replication Influenza in mice. Its production is inversely correlated with the pathogenicity of H5N1 virus [80]. Another di-hydroxy-DHA lipid mediators are Maresins with anti-inflammatory properties and "pro-resolvin" type protection [74]. 1-Maresin MaR1, a powerful mediator stimulating phagocytosis of macrophages, was first identified. Another isomer of MaR1 is formed by a double mechanism of lipoxygenation and is less potent *in vitro* and *in vivo* [81].

In addition to mono and di-hydroxylated DHA derivatives, trihydroxylated DHA lipid mediators named Resolvins or "resolution-phase interaction products" (Rv) have been proposed by Serhan et al. (2000). Resolvins were formed from n-3 PUFAs through a process triggered during inflammation and promoted by aspirin but also in the absence of aspirin. The compounds derived from EPA and DHA are called, respectively, resolvins E and resolvins D. These compounds were discovered in inflammatory exudates during the phase of resolution of the inflammatory response [82]. They act by preventing entry of neutrophils to sites of inflammation and reducing the volume of exudates. Researchers reported that RvD1, RvD2, RvD3 and RvD4 activate macrophage autophagy, reduce inflammatory cytokines and inhibit PMN infiltration (Fig. 3) [83–86].

Recently, Recchiuti A et al., showed that DHA-derived RvD1 and RvD2 reduced SARS-CoV-2 induced inflammatory responses in cystic fibrosis macrophage M Φ actions including reduction of inflammatory chemokines and cytokines [87].

We previously discussed the immunopathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 in CNS and showed that many inflammatory responses in COVID-19 patients are accompanied with high levels of cytokines



Fig. 4. SARS-Cov-2 journey to the brain: From neurological symptoms to potential anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective drug.

and chemokines, involving TNF- α , IFN- γ , interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA), IL-2, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10 [45,46]. Thus, DHA and lipid bioactive species such as resolvins, protectins and maresins could be potential candidates to be developed as new therapeutics to fight SARS-CoV-2.

8. Effect of SARS-CoV-2 on DHA passage across BBB

DHA, crucial for brain growth and neural development, is highly enriched in brain phospholipids including phosphatidylcholines PC, phosphatidylethanolamines PE and phosphatidylserines PS. A reduction in DHA level in the brain was found in patients with neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer and Parkinson. DHA is synthesized de novo from its precursor alpha-linolenic acid 18:3 n-3 but this conversion rate in human is low. Thus, DHA should be imported to the brain and pass through BBB. We previously studied the passage of DHA across BBB and showed that different lyso/ phospholipids are privileged carrier of DHA to the brain [88–90]. Recently, a transport protein expressed in human brain microvascular endothelial cells hBMECs named Mfsd2a, was reported as the main carrier mediating the brain uptake of DHA in form of lysoPC-DHA [91]. When hBMEC were infected by ZIKV, ZIKV was able to decrease Mfsd2A at the protein level both in vitro and in vivo [92]. Also, ZIKV infection impaired the lipid homeostasis by blocking lysoPC-DHA uptake and altering the major mechanism by which DHA enters the brain. Administration of exogenous DHA to infected mice by ZIKV SZ01 increase Mfsd2A level in brain and suppressed ZIKV RNA in the brain at day 5 and day 7 after DHA administration [92]. An important question is whether SARS-CoV-2 is able to down-regulate the expression of Mfsd2A in BBB endothelial cells. If so, the transport of DHA to the brain will be affected thus allowing less penetration of DHA to the brain which can be problematic for patients suffering from neurodegenerative disease. Hence, studying the effect of SARS-CoV-2 on Mfsd2a is crucial to know whether the DHA metabolism in the brain is affected or not.

9. Conclusion

In COVID-19 patients, neurological complications were observed during infection including headache, nausea, vomiting in addition to several neurological disorders. Considering effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection in CNS, a risk of permanent sequelae in the CNS might occur due to BBB disruption. Recent evidence revealed that BMEC of BBB can be infected by SARS-CoV-2 due to the expression of ACE2, receptor of SARS-CoV-2. This infection can lead to an inflammatory response known as Cytokine Storm where high levels of cytokines and chemokines were ex-pressed. In addition, a lipid remodeling was linked to SARS-CoV-2 infection hence proposing the potential of lipid metabolism regulation as a druggable target for CoVs infections [67]. In fact, DHA as well as its bioactive lipid mediators such as protectins (PD1/NPD1/PDX), maresins and resolvins are known with anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effect. These biomolecules are potential candidates as new therapeutics to fight SARS-CoV-2 at stage II and stage III of the disease (Fig. 4). Several clinical trials are on their way in COVID-19 patients and in older people to estimate whether omega-3 PUFA diet enhancement could defend patients against COVID-19. Further studies of the biosynthesis, lipid metabolism and target molecules would allow a better understanding of the physiological importance of omega-3 PUFA and bioactive lipid mediators in maintaining tissue homeostasis, and also as potential therapeutic targets for inflammation in case of viral infection. Also, a deep comprehension of SARS-CoV-2 neuroinvasion pathway allow drug targeting to decline the burden of neurological manifestations of SARS-CoV-2.

Author contributions

M.H has designed, written and planned the manuscript.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

The author thankfully acknowledges support of Faculty and Staff colleagues at the Department of Chemistry, Khalifa University.

References

- Z.-W. Ye, S. Yuan, K.-S. Yuen, S.-Y. Fung, C.-P. Chan, D.-Y. Jin, Zoonotic origins of human coronaviruses, In-ternational J. Biol. Sci. 16 (10) (2020) 1686.
- [2] N.K. Jaiswal, S.K. Saxena, Classical coronaviruses, in: Coronavirus Disease 2019, Springer, 2020, pp. 141–150, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-4814-7_12. COVID-19).
- [3] D. Raoult, A. Zumla, F. Locatelli, G. Ippolito, G. Kroemer, Coronavirus infections: epidemiological, clinical and immunological features and hypotheses, Cell Stress 4 (4) (2020) 66, https://doi.org/10.15698/cst2020.04.216.
- [4] M. Park, A.R. Cook, J.T. Lim, Y. Sun, B.L. Dickens, A systematic review of COVID-19 epidemiology based on current evidence, J. Clin. Med. 9 (4) (2020) 967.
- [5] J. Wise, Covid-19: new coronavirus variant is identified in UK. British Medical Journal Publishing Group, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m4857.
- [6] H.K. Siddiqi, M.R. Mehra, COVID-19 illness in native and immunosuppressed states: a clinical-therapeutic staging proposal, J. Heart Lung Transplant. : Off. Publ. Int. Soc. Heart Transplantation 39 (5) (2020) 405–407, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.healun.2020.03.012.
- [7] L. Mao, H. Jin, M. Wang, Y. Hu, S. Chen, Q. He, D. Wang, Neurologic manifestations of hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan, China, JAMA Neurol. 77 (6) (2020) 683–690, https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaneurol.2020.1127.
- [8] Y. Huang, C. Yang, X.-f. Xu, W. Xu, S.-w. Liu, Structural and functional properties of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein: potential antivirus drug development for COVID-19, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 41 (9) (2020) 1141–1149, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41401-020-0485-4.
- [9] M. Liu, T. Wang, Y. Zhou, Y. Zhao, Y. Zhang, J. Li, Potential role of ACE2 in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) prevention and management, J. Transl. Internal Med. 8 (1) (2020) 9–19, https://doi.org/10.2478/jtim-2020-0003.
- [10] M.A. Crackower, R. Sarao, G.Y. Oudit, C. Yagil, I. Kozieradzki, S.E. Scanga, Y. Pei, Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is an essential regulator of heart function, Nature 417 (6891) (2002) 822–828.
- [11] S.R. Tipnis, N.M. Hooper, R. Hyde, E. Karran, G. Christie, A.J. Turner, A human homolog of angioten-sin-converting enzyme cloning and functional expression as a captopril-insensitive carboxypeptidase, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (43) (2000) 33238–33243.
- [12] P. Mesci, A. Macia, A. Saleh, L. Martin-Sancho, X. Yin, C. Snethlage, A. Muotri, Sofosbuvir Protects Human Brain Organoids against SARS-CoV-2. bioRxiv, 2020.
- [13] A. Paoloni-Giacobino, H. Chen, M.C. Peitsch, C. Rossier, S.E. Antonarakis, Cloning of the TMPRSS2 gene, which encodes a novel serine protease with transmembrane, LDLRA, and SRCR domains and maps to 21q22.3, Genomics 44 (1997) 309–320, https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1997.4845.
- [14] X.-Y. Che, W. Hao, Y. Wang, B. Di, K. Yin, Y.-C. Xu, K.-Y. Yuen, Nucleocapsid protein as early diagnostic marker for SARS, Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10 (11) (2004) 1947–1949.
- [15] Y. Ye, B.G. Hogue, Role of the coronavirus E viroporin protein transmembrane domain in virus assembly, J. Virol. 81 (7) (2007) 3597–3607, https://doi.org/ 10.1128/JVI.01472-06.
- [16] E.A. J Alsaadi, I.M. Jones, Membrane binding proteins of coronaviruses, Future Virol. 14 (4) (2019) 275–286, https://doi.org/10.2217/fvl-2018-0144.
- [17] X. Fang, J. Gao, H. Zheng, B. Li, L. Kong, Y. Zhang, L. Ye, The membrane protein of SARS-CoV suppresses NF-κB activation, J. Med. Virol. 79 (10) (2007) 1431–1439.
- [18] B.T. Freitas, I.A. Durie, J. Murray, J.E. Longo, H.C. Miller, Characterization and noncovalent inhibition of the deubiquitinase and delSGylase activity of SARS-CoV-2 papain-like protease, ACS Infect. Dis. 6 (8) (2020) 2099–2109.
- [19] T. Shu, M. Huang, Y.R. Di Wu, X. Zhang, Y. Han, J. Mu, X. Zhou, SARS-Coronavirus-2 Nsp13 possesses NTPase and RNA helicase activities that can Be inhibited by bismuth salts, Virol. Sin. 1 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12250-020-00242-1.
- [20] K.K. Ng, J.J. Arnold, C.E. Cameron, Structure-function relationships among RNA- dependent RNA polymerases, Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 320 (2008)

137-156, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-75157-1_7.

- [21] A. Pezzini, A. Padovani, Lifting the mask on neurological manifestations of COVID-19, Nat. Rev. Neurol. 16 (2020) 637.
- [22] N.V. Ayala-Nunez, R. Gaudin, A viral journey to the brain: current considerations and future developments, PLoS Pathog. 16 (5) (2020), e1008434, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008434.
- [23] D. Knipe, P. Howley, J. Cohen, D. Griffin, R. Lamb, M. Martin, B. Roizman, Fields virology, wolters kluwer, in: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Health, Philadelphia, PA, 2013.
- [24] K.R. Spindler, T.-H. Hsu, Viral disruption of the blood-brain barrier, Trends Microbiol. 20 (6) (2012) 282–290, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2012.03.009.
- [25] C.-F. Chiu, L.-W. Chu, I. Liao, Y. Simanjuntak, Y.-L. Lin, C.-C. Juan, Y.-H. Ping, The mechanism of the zika virus crossing the placental barrier and the blood-brain barrier, Front. Microbiol. 11 (2020) 214, https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2020.00214.
- [26] M.P. Papa, L.M. Meuren, S.V. Coelho, C.G. Lucas, Y.M. Mustafá, F. Lemos Matassoli, M.R. Ribeiro, Zika virus infects, activates, and crosses brain microvascular endothelial cells, without barrier disruption, Front. Microbiol. 8 (2017) 2557, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02557.
- [27] A.R. Leda, L. Bertrand, I.E. Andras, N. El-Hage, M.N. Nair, M. Toborek, Selective disruption of the blood-brain barrier by zika virus, Front. Microbiol. 10 (2019) 2158, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02158.
- [28] Z. Xu, R. Waeckerlin, M.D. Urbanowski, G. Van Marle, T.C. Hobman, West Nile virus infection causes endocytosis of a specific subset of tight junction membrane proteins, PloS One 7 (5) (2012), e37886, https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0037886.
- [29] S. Verma, Y. Lo, M. Chapagain, S. Lum, M. Kumar, U. Gurjav, V.R. Nerurkar, West Nile virus infection mod-ulates human brain microvascular endothelial cells tight junction proteins and cell adhesion molecules: transmigration across the in vitro blood-brain barrier, Virology 385 (2) (2009) 425–433, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2008.11.047.
- [30] B.P. Daniels, D.W. Holman, L. Cruz-Orengo, H. Jujjavarapu, D.M. Durrant, R.S. Klein, Viral patho-gen-associated molecular patterns regulate blood-brain barrier integrity via competing innate cytokine signals, mBio 5 (5) (2014), https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01476-14.
- [31] B.P. Daniels, H. Jujjavarapu, D.M. Durrant, J.L. Williams, R.R. Green, J.P. White, R.S. Klein, Regional astrocyte IFN signaling restricts pathogenesis during neurotropic viral infection, J. Clin. Invest. 127 (3) (2017) 843–856, https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI88720.
- [32] Y. Li, W. Bai, T. Hashikawa, The neuroinvasive potential of SARS-CoV2 may be at least partially responsible for the res-piratory failure of COVID-19 patients: [e-pub ahead of print], J. Med. Virol. (2020 Mar 17) 1–4, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acsinfecdis.0c00168.
- [33] H. Alexopoulos, E. Magira, K. Bitzogli, N. Kafasi, P. Vlachoyiannopoulos, A. Tzioufas, M.C. Dalakas, Anti–SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in the CSF, blood-brain barrier dysfunction, and neurological outcome: studies in 8 stuporous and comatose patients, Neuroil. Neuroimmunol. Neuroinflam. 7 (6) (2020), https:// doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000893.
- [34] S. Mohammadi, F. Moosaie, M.H. Aarabi, Understanding the immunologic characteristics of neurologic mani-festations of SARS-CoV-2 and potential immunological mechanisms, Mol. Neurobiol. 57 (12) (2020) 5263–5275, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-02094-y.
- [35] J. Helms, S. Kremer, H. Merdji, R. Clere-Jehl, M. Schenck, C. Kummerlen, M. Ohana, Neurologic features in severe SARS-CoV-2 infection, N. Engl. J. Med. 382 (2020) 2268–2270.
- [36] Y. Huang, C. Yang, X.-f. Xu, W. Xu, S.-w. Liu, Structural and functional properties of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein: potential antivirus drug development for COVID-19, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 41 (9) (2020) 1141–1149, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41401-020-0485-4.
- [37] P.P. Panciani, G. Saraceno, L. Zanin, G. Renisi, L. Signorini, L. Battaglia, M.M. Fontanella, SARS-CoV-2:"Three-steps" infection model and CSF diagnostic implication. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2020.
- [38] P.A. Swanson 2nd, D.B. McGavern, Viral diseases of the central nervous system, Curr Opin Virol 11 (2015) 44–54, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.coviro.2014.12.009.
- [39] E.M. Rhea, A.F. Logsdon, K.M. Hansen, L.M. Williams, M.J. Reed, K.K. Baumann, M.A. Erickson, The S1 protein of SARS-CoV-2 crosses the blood-brain barrier in mice, Nat. Neurosci. (2020) 1–11, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00771-8.
- [40] K. Hassanzadeh, H. Perez Pena, J. Dragotto, L. Buccarello, F. Iorio, S. Pieraccini, M. Feligioni, Considerations around the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein with particular attention to COVID-19 brain infection and neurological symptoms, ACS Chem. Neurosci. 11 (15) (2020) 2361–2369, https://doi.org/10.1021/ acschemneuro.0c00373.
- [41] F. Al Saiegh, R. Ghosh, A. Leibold, M.B. Avery, R.F. Schmidt, T. Theofanis, Z.-X. Wang, Status of SARS-CoV-2 in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with COVID-19 and stroke, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 91 (8) (2020) 846–848.
- [42] T. Moriguchi, N. Harii, J. Goto, D. Harada, H. Sugawara, J. Takamino, N. Myose, A first case of meningi-tis/encephalitis associated with SARS-Coronavirus-2, Int. J. Infect. Dis. 94 (2020) 55–58.
- [43] B. Engelhardt, R.M. Ransohoff, Capture, crawl, cross: the T cell code to breach the blood-brain barriers, Trends Immunol. 33 (12) (2012) 579–589, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2012.07.004.
- [44] S. Verma, Y. Lo, M. Chapagain, S. Lum, M. Kumar, U. Gurjav, V.R. Nerurkar, West Nile virus infection mod-ulates human brain microvascular endothelial

cells tight junction proteins and cell adhesion molecules: transmigration across the in vitro blood-brain barrier, Virology 385 (2) (2009) 425–433, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2008.11.047.

- [45] B. Diao, C. Wang, Y. Tan, X. Chen, Y. Liu, L. Ning, G. Wang, Reduction and functional exhaustion of T cells in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), Front. Immunol. 11 (2020) 827.
- [46] Q. Ye, B. Wang, J. Mao, Cytokine storm in COVID-19 and treatment, J. Infect. 80 (6) (2020) 607-613.
- [47] V. Calsolaro, P. Edison, Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: current evidence and future directions, Alz-heimer's Dement 12 (6) (2016) 719–732, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.02.010.
- [48] Naughton, S. X., Raval, U., & Pasinetti, G. M. Potential novel role of COVID-19 in Alzheimer's disease and preventative mitigation strategies. J. Alzheim. Dis., 1-5.
- [49] E.M. Behrens, G.A. Koretzky, Cytokine storm syndrome: looking toward the precision medicine era, Arthritis Rheumatol. 69 (6) (2017) 1135–1143.
- [50] A.K. Azkur, M. Akdis, D. Azkur, M. Sokolowska, W. van de Veen, M.C. Brüggen, C.A. Akdis, Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and mechanisms of immunopathological changes in COVID-19, Allergy 75 (7) (2020) 1564–1581, https:// doi.org/10.1111/all.14364.
- [51] H. Wang, Z. Yuan, M.A. Pavel, S.B. Hansen, The role of high cholesterol in agerelated COVID19 lethality, bioRxiv (2020).
- [52] L.A. Farrer, L.A. Cupples, J.L. Haines, B. Hyman, W.A. Kukull, R. Mayeux, C.M. Van Duijn, Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis, Jama 278 (16) (1997) 1349–1356, https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1997.035501 60069041z.
- [53] C.-L. Kuo, L.C. Pilling, J.L. Atkins, J.A. Masoli, J. Delgado, G.A. Kuchel, D. Melzer, APOE e4 genotype predicts severe COVID-19 in the UK Biobank community cohort, medRxiv, 2020.
- [54] Y.J. Jung, D. Tweedie, M.T. Scerba, N.H. Greig, Neuroinflammation as a factor of neurodegenerative disease: thalidomide analogs as treatments, Front. Cell Develop. Biol. 7 (2019) 313.
- [55] R. Jain, M. Young, S. Dogra, H. Kennedy, V. Nguyen, S. Jones, S. Galetta, COVID-19 related neuroimaging findings: a signal of thromboembolic complications and a strong prognostic marker of poor patient outcome, J. Neurol. Sci. 414 (116923) (2020), 116923.
- [56] Altable, M., & de la Serna, J. M. Cerebrovascular disease in COVID-19: is there a higher risk of stroke?.
- [57] K.L. Lambertsen, K. Biber, B. Finsen, Inflammatory cytokines in experimental and human stroke, J. Cerebr. Blood Flow Metabol. 32 (9) (2012) 1677–1698.
- [58] A.A. Asadi-Pooya, Seizures Associated with Coronavirus Infections, Seizure, 2020.
- [59] M. Abu-Farha, T.A. Thanaraj, M.G. Qaddoumi, A. Hashem, J. Abubaker, F. Al-Mulla, The role of lipid me-tabolism in COVID-19 virus infection and as a drug target, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 (10) (2020) 3544, https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21103544.
- [60] M. Lorizate, H. Krausslich, Role of lipids in virus replication, Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3 (2011), a004820.
- [61] G.A. Belov, F.J. van Kuppeveld, (+) RNA viruses rewire cellular pathways to build replication organelles, Curr. Opinion Virol. 2 (6) (2012) 740–747.
- [62] B. Yan, Z. Zou, H. Chu, G. Chan, J.O.-L. Tsang, P.-M. Lai, R.Y.-T. Kao, Lipidomic profiling reveals significant perturbations of intracellular lipid homeostasis in enterovirus-infected cells, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (23) (2019) 5952, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms20235952.
- [63] K. Xu, P.D. Nagy, RNA virus replication depends on enrichment of phosphatidylethanolamine at replication sites in subcellular membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. Unit. States Am. 112 (14) (2015) E1782–E1791.
- [64] B. Yan, H. Chu, D. Yang, K.-H. Sze, P.-M. Lai, S. Yuan, J.F.-W. Chan, Characterization of the lipidomic profile of human coronavirus-infected cells: implications for lipid metabolism remodeling upon coronavirus replication, Viruses 11 (1) (2019) 73, https://doi.org/10.3390/v11010073.
- [65] U.N. Das, Can bioactive lipids inactivate coronavirus (COVID-19)? Arch. Med. Res. (2020) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.03.004.
- [66] H.A. Braz-De-Melo, G. Pasquarelli-do-Nascimento, R. Corrêa, Potential neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects provided by omega-3 (DHA) against Zika virus infection in human SH-SY5Y cells, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-56556-.
- [67] V. Rioux, M. Record, Special section involvement of lipids in the occurrence of COVID-19, Biochimie 179 (2020) 228, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biochi.2020.11.007.
- [68] E. Corey, C. Shih, J.R. Cashman, Docosahexaenoic acid is a strong inhibitor of prostaglandin but not leukotriene biosynthesis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. Unit. States Am. 80 (12) (1983) 3581–3584.
- [69] T.H. Lee, J.-M. Mencia-Huerta, C. Shih, E. Corey, R. Lewis, K. Austen, Effects of exogenous arachidonic, eicosapentaenoic, and docosahexaenoic acids on the generation of 5-lipoxygenase pathway products by ionophore-activated human neutrophils, J. Clin. Invest. 74 (6) (1984) 1922–1933.
- [70] S. Sawazaki, N. Salem Jr., H.Y. Kim, Lipoxygenation of docosahexaenoic acid by the rat pineal body, J. Neurochem. 62 (6) (1994) 2437–2447.

- [71] J.W. Karanian, H.-Y. Kim, N. Salem, The structure-activity relationship of lipoxygenase products of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids: effects on human platelet aggregation, Lipids 31 (1) (1996) S305–S308.
- [72] S. Hong, K. Gronert, P.R. Devchand, R.-L. Moussignac, C.N. Serhan, Novel docosatrienes and 17S-resolvins generated from docosahexaenoic acid in murine brain, human blood, and glial cells autacoids in anti-inflammation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (17) (2003) 14677–14687.
- [73] P.K. Mukherjee, V.L. Marcheselli, C.N. Serhan, N.G. Bazan, Neuroprotectin D1: a docosahexaenoic acid-derived docosatriene protects human retinal pigment epithelial cells from oxidative stress, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. Unit. States Am. 101 (22) (2004) 8491–8496.
- [74] C.N. Serhan, Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology, Nature 510 (7503) (2014) 92–101.
- [75] W.J. Lukiw, J.-G. Cui, V.L. Marcheselli, M. Bodker, A. Botkjaer, K. Gotlinger, N.G. Bazan, A role for do-cosahexaenoic acid-derived neuroprotectin D1 in neural cell survival and Alzheimer disease, J. Clin. Investigat. 115 (10) (2005) 2774–2783.
- [76] N.G. Bazan, The onset of brain injury and neurodegeneration triggers the synthesis of docosanoid neuroprotective signaling, Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 26 (4–6) (2006) 899–911.
- [77] B.D. Levy, P. Kohli, K. Gotlinger, O. Haworth, S. Hong, S. Kazani, C.N. Serhan, Protectin D1 is generated in asthma and dampens airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness, J. Immunol. 178 (1) (2007) 496–502.
- [78] V.L. Marcheselli, S. Hong, W.J. Lukiw, X.H. Tian, K. Gronert, A. Musto, C.N. Serhan, Novel docosanoids inhibit brain ischemia-reperfusion-mediated leukocyte infiltration and pro-inflammatory gene expression, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (44) (2003) 43807–43817.
- [79] P. Chen, E. Vericel, M. Lagarde, M. Guichardant, Poxytrins, a class of oxygenated products from polyunsaturated fatty acids, potently inhibit blood platelet aggregation, Faseb. J. 25 (1) (2011) 382–388.
- [80] M. Morita, K. Kuba, A. Ichikawa, M. Nakayama, J. Katahira, R. Iwamoto, S. Nakamura, The lipid mediator protectin D1 inhibits influenza virus replication and improves severe influenza, Cell 153 (1) (2013) 112–125.
 [81] C.N. Serhan, R. Yang, K. Martinod, K. Kasuga, P.S. Pillai, T.F. Porter, M. Spite,
- [81] C.N. Serhan, R. Yang, K. Martinod, K. Kasuga, P.S. Pillai, T.F. Porter, M. Spite, Maresins: novel macrophage mediators with potent antiinflammatory and proresolving actions, J. Exp. Med. 206 (1) (2009) 15–23.
- [82] C.N. Serhan, C.B. Clish, J. Brannon, S.P. Colgan, N. Chiang, K. Gronert, Novel functional sets of lipid-derived mediators with antiinflammatory actions generated from omega-3 fatty acids via cyclooxygenase 2–nonsteroidal antiinflam-matory drugs and transcellular processing, J. Exp. Med. 192 (8) (2000) 1197–1204.
- [83] P. Prieto, C.E. Rosales-Mendoza, V. Terrón, V. Toledano, A. Cuadrado, E. López-Collazo, L. Boscá, Activation of autophagy in macrophages by pro-resolving lipid mediators, Autophagy 11 (10) (2015) 1729–1744.
- [84] Z. Gu, G.J. Lamont, R.J. Lamont, S.M. Uriarte, H. Wang, D.A. Scott, Resolvin D1, resolvin D2 and maresin 1 activate the GSK3β anti-inflammatory axis in TLR4engaged human monocytes, Innate Immun. 22 (3) (2016) 186–195.
- [85] J. Dalli, J.W. Winkler, R.A. Colas, H. Arnardottir, C.-Y.C. Cheng, N. Chiang, C.N. Serhan, Resolvin D3 and aspirin-triggered resolvin D3 are potent immunoresolvents, Chem. Biol. 20 (2) (2013) 188–201.
- [86] J.W. Winkler, S.K. Orr, J. Dalli, C.-Y.C. Cheng, J.M. Sanger, N. Chiang, C.N. Serhan, Resolvin D4 stereo-assignment and its novel actions in host protection and bacterial clearance, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 18972.
- [87] Antonio Recchiuti, Sara Patruno, Domenico Mattoscio, Elisa Isopi, Antonella Pomilio, Alessia Lamolinara, Manuela Iezzi, Romina Pecce, Mario Romano, Resolvin D1 and D2 reduce SARS-Cov-2-induced inflammation in cystic fibrosis macrophages, bioRxiv 8 (28) (2020), 255463, https:// doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.28.255463.
- [88] M. Hachem, A. Géloën, A.L. Van, B. Foumaux, L. Fenart, F. Gosselet, M. Picq, Efficient docosahexaenoic acid uptake by the brain from a structured phospholipid, Mol. Neurobiol. 53 (5) (2016) 3205–3215, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12035-015-9228-9.
- [89] M. Hachem, H. Nacir, M. Picq, M. Belkouch, N. Bernoud-Hubac, A. Windust, S. Lambert-Porcheron, Do-cosahexaenoic acid (DHA) bioavailability in humans after oral intake of DHA-containing triacylglycerol or the structured phospholipid AceDoPC®, Nutrients 12 (1) (2020) 251, https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu12010251.
- [90] M. Hachem, M. Belkouch, A.L. Van, M. Picq, N. Bernoud-Hubac, M. Lagarde, Brain targeting with docosahex-aenoic acid as a prospective therapy for neurodegenerative diseases and its passage across blood brain barrier, Biochimie 170 (2020) 203–211, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2020.01.013.
- [91] L.N. Nguyen, D. Ma, G. Shui, P. Wong, A. Cazenave-Gassiot, X. Zhang, M.R. Wenk, E.L. Goh, D.L. Silver, Mfsd2a is a transporter for the essential omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid, Nature 509 (7501) (2014) 503–506, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13241. PMID: 24828044.
- [92] J. Zhou, X. Chi, M. Cheng, X. Huang, X. Liu, J. Fan, C. Qin, Zika virus degrades the ω-3 fatty acid transporter Mfsd2a in brain microvascular endothelial cells and impairs lipid homeostasis, Sci. Adv. 5 (10) (2019), eaax7142, https://doi.org/ 10.1126/sciadv.aax7142.